# IRON TOLERANCE ACROSS SEX AND BITING PROPENSITY IN *WYEOMYIA SMITHII* LARVAE

by

### EMMA ASHLYN MARIE RASMUSSEN

### A THESIS

Presented to the Department of Environmental Studies and the Robert D. Clark Honors College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Science

September 2019

#### An Abstract of the Thesis of

Emma Ashlyn Marie Rasmussen for the degree of Bachelor of Science in the Department of Environmental Studies to be taken September 2019

Title: Iron Tolerance Across Sex and Biting Propensity of Wyeomyia smithii Larvae

Approved: \_\_\_\_\_

Dr. Christina Holzapfel

Approved:

Dr. William Bradshaw

Mosquitoes are known as the most dangerous animals on earth because they transmit heinous diseases, including malaria, dengue, and yellow fever. Biting and sucking blood are hazardous to mosquitoes because, among other substances, blood contains toxic amounts of iron. This study aimed to determine whether iron tolerance varied between blood feeding and obligate non-biting populations of *Wyeomyia smithii*. Additionally, sex ratio was examined to seek out potential physiological differences between males and females between biting and non-biting populations. Using six serial dilutions of

emergence in biting nor non-biting populations. My research sought out the physiological limits of iron tolerance in larvae of the pitcher-plant mosquito, *W. smithii*, and discovered significantly decreased frequency to pupation across all populations at high concentrations of ferrous sulfate. Through the discovery of this threshold level of iron, my results provide an important step for future research into adult iron tolerance in

ferrous sulfate, I determined that sex does not alter survivorship to pupation nor adult

*W. smithii*. In the adult life stage, both females and males feed on carbohydrates and could be targeted with iron-laced sugar baited traps. Hence, my research will contribute to the control of mosquito borne disease using measures that are benign to the environment.

#### Acknowledgements

To my committee, thank you to my co-primary advisors, Dr. William Bradshaw and Dr. Christina Holzapfel, for welcoming me into your lab and giving me the opportunity and resources to pursue this research project. I could not have done it without your support and expertise every step of the way. Thank you to Dr. Mark Carey for helping me with honors college requirements of the thesis process. I cannot express my gratitude to each of you enough for going beyond your contractual requirements to allow me to defend during the summer session.

To my peers in lab who became friends, thank you for not only running the lab while I was tucked away in the back room writing, but also for being one of my favorite parts of coming in. Special thanks to Daniell McCann and Olivia Sidow for giving me motivation and confidence when I felt like giving up.

To my roommates, thank you for putting up with my "tornando-ing" throughout the house. Our home provided a space full of support and laughter that helped me thrive.

To my friends, thank you all for keeping me grounded through phone calls, study sessions, hikes, and even a homemade mosquito piñata.

To my parents, Heather and Ron, thank you for providing me with an education and pushing me to make the most of every opportunity. To my siblings, Olivia and Colin, thank you for always making me laugh and fueling me with a 60 pack of sugarfree Redbull.

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	1
Background	3
Wyeomyia smithii	3
Materials and Methods	4
Laboratory Standard Rearing Procedure	5
Iron Solution Procedure	6
Parent Populations	6
Experimental Procedures	7
Statistical Approach	7
Results	9
Discussion	13
Wyeomyia smithii Larval Physiology	13
Environmentally Friendly Population Control	14
Future Research	14
Glossary	15
Appendices	16
References	20

# List of Figures

Figure 2: Adult W. smithii inside S. purpurea leaf	3
Figure 3. Map of experimental populations	4
Figure 4. Survivorship to pupation, during pupation, or to adult emergence	0
Figure 5. Sex ratio expressed as % female in non-biting and biting populations in response to the zero iron control and the two highest iron concentrations among pupae and eclosing adults 1	1

# List of Tables

Table 1. Significance from	Chisq test	12	2
----------------------------	------------	----	---

#### Introduction

Mosquitoes have been called "the most deadly animals on Earth" (Armbruster, 2018, p. 1009) because they transmit pathogens causing some of the most lethal and debilitating human diseases worldwide. Mosquitoes are **vectors**<sup>1</sup> for diseases such as Malaria and Dengue, West Nile, Zika, and Chikungunya viruses (Bradshaw et al., 2017). In order for these diseases to be transmitted, the mosquito must take a blood meal (hereafter, bite) from an individual host. Blood feeding results in a massive intake of iron due to the breakdown of **hemoglobin** during blood digestion. Unless sequestered or rapidly excreted, iron is toxic to mosquitoes (Graça-Souza, 2006).

Only adult female mosquitoes bite. Females effectively sequester heme-bound iron in the **peritrophic matrix** lining their gut and, upon the breakdown of heme, rapidly excrete over 85% of the iron consumed from the bite (Zhou, 2007). Adult males do not bite, but they can imbibe fluid, and, if fed liquid blood, rapidly succumb from a toxic overload of iron (Nikbakhtzadeh, 2016). The internal physiology of digesting, sequestering, and excreting this heme-bound iron via the peritrophic matrix is better developed in adult females than adult males. Adult females that consume blood have a peritrophic matrix that grows in thickness as a direct response to blood consumption thereby protecting the body from heme-bound iron. Adult males and juveniles (larvae) of both sexes maintain a consistently thin peritrophic matrix (Lehane, 1997). While previous studies have considered the role of the peritrophic matrix in adult mosquitoes, no studies had evaluated iron toxicity in larval mosquitoes, much less larval differences between the sexes or among populations within a single species. My research set out to determine if iron tolerance varied in larval *Wyeomyia smithii* between males and females and among larvae from populations whose adult females bite or are obligate non-biters.

I found that iron sulfate is toxic to larval *W. smithii* through a decrease in frequency of pupation and emergence of adults as iron concentration experienced by larvae increased for all populations. Pupation and adult emergence was lowwer in nonbiting than in biting populations throughout the concentration gradient. Sex ratio of pupae or emerging adults did not vary between biting and non-biting populations or with larval iron concentration.



Figure 1: W. smithii larva

### Background

#### Wyeomyia smithii

The species of mosquito I examined, *Wyeomyia smithii*, lives in the water-filled leaves of the carnivorous purple pitcher plant, *Sarracenia purpurea*. The range of the mosquito follows that of its host plant across the eastern United States and westward in Canada, including both coastal and mountainous elevations (Bradshaw et al., 2017). *Wyeomyia smithii* is unique among all mosquitoes in that it bites in the southern part of its range and is obligate non-biting in the northern<sup>2</sup> part of its range; yet, all populations remain fully **inter-fertile** (Bradshaw et al., 2017).



Figure 2: Adult W. smithii inside S. purpurea leaf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> High elevation populations in North Carolina are evolutionarily grouped with northern populations (Mertz et al. 2013) and are obligate non-biters.

### **Materials and Methods**

I tested six populations of *W. smithii*, three with the capability of taking a blood meal and three with obligate non-biting females. The wild populations were collected from Florida, Alabama, coastal and mountainous North Carolina, Maine, and Wisconsin in summer 2016.



Figure 3. Map of experimental populations

Locat	ion Name	State	N Latitude	W Longitude	m Elevation
DB	Dulaney Bg	NC	35.0	83.0	900
GS	Green Swmp	NC	35.1	78.3	20
KC	Knowles Crnr	ME	46.2	68.3	365
LI	Lilian	AL	30.4	87.5	15
ML	Muskelunge Lk	WI	46.0	89.6	500
WI	Wilma	FL	30.1	85.0	10

#### Laboratory Standard Rearing Procedure

Each population was isolated in separate crates with 35 larvae per 150 mm dish containing 1.08 x 10<sup>-1</sup> g/L of tetracycline deionized water. Each dish was fed a 4:1 ratio of Geisler Guinea Pig Feed (Sergeant's Pet Care Products©) to freeze dried brine shrimp (San Francisco Bay Brand©). The mixture was ground and then sifted through a 0.50 mm sieve. The fine particles were then mixed with tetracycline deionized water and dispensed at 2 mL per dish weekly.

Larvae were raised in optimal short-day conditions receiving 8 hours of light per day and kept at a constant temperature of 21° C. To initiate pupation, dishes were moved into the optimal long day climate-controlled room receiving 16 hours of light per day, with constant 80% humidity, and set to a daily **thermoperiod** within a range of 15° C to 32° C. Pupa were collected into cups of 140 mL deionized water with no more than 50 pupa per cup. After 5 days as pupae, cups were placed in new enclosures. The bottom of the enclosures contained a layer of filter paper above layers of paper towels, all soaked in deionized water. The mesh tops supported a small handful of pesticide-free raisins to serve as the adult food source. Each enclosure contained one purple pitcherplant leaf partially filled with deionized water. Paper was wet with deionized water and eggs were collected three times a week. Eggs hatched into deionized water in short-day conditions, before they were transferred to tetracycline deionized water with 35 larvae per dish.

#### Iron Solution Procedure

To make the six concentrations of iron solution, I used Nature Made © 325 mg tablets of ferrous sulfate incorporating 65 mg iron in each tablet. I made series of five dilutions (serial dilutions) of ferrous iron in addition to one control: 33.583 mg/L, 3.358 mg/L, 0.336 mg/L, 0.034 mg/L, and 0.003 mg/L. To do this, I dissolved 15.5 tablets of ferrous sulfate in 3 liters of larval antibiotic water. The tablets dissolved over at least a 24-hour period. After the tablets were dissolved, I measured 300 mL of this 335.833 mg/L solution into 2.7 L of antibiotic water. I repeated this process of measuring 300mL of each succeeding solution and mixing it into 2.7 L of antibiotic water, shaking each new concentration before transferring to the next dilution. This process was repeated five times resulting in five concentrations of ferrous iron from the initial 335.833 mg/L solution. All solutions were stored and sealed in one-gallon plastic jugs in a refrigerator at 3° C.

#### Parent Populations

To randomize the test populations, I separated out experimental dishes from laboratory stock population dishes, stored in the 21°C short-day room, using a histogram method. All dishes, containing 35 larvae per dish, were ordered by the date their eggs were collected in stacks, resembling a histogram. Total dishes were divided by 18 to calculate the pull number. Counting down the line of dishes, 18 dishes were counted out from each population and placed in the optimal long-day room. In the new climate conditions, the larvae continued to be raised with 2 mL of food solution per day. I switched larvae into new antibiotic water solutions and dispensed 2mL of food solution weekly. I collected pupae Monday, Wednesday, and Friday and raised them to adulthood following standard procedures described above. The eggs collected from these six populations were placed into deionized water and labeled with population name and date of egg collection.

#### Experimental Procedures

Experimental eggs hatched in deionized water in short day conditions. After five days, I counted out 50 hatched larvae per 150 mm dish into 75 mL of their assigned solution in and feed 3 mL of food. Once in an experimental iron concentration, larvae were raised under the optimal long-day and temperature conditions to initiate pupation. I assigned iron concentration at random among the 84 dishes by turning cards, through the process of assigning suite and color to replicates. Each population, with two replicates of six iron sulfate concentrations, was switched and fed on a cycle alternating between 4 to 5 days starting from the initial solution date. I collected pupa Monday, Wednesday, Friday placed them in a closed cup with deionized water and labeled with population name, iron concentration, replicate number, and date. Pupa were checked Tuesday, Thursday, Saturday for adult emergence or death. I sexed the exuviae of adults and dead pupae under a microscope.

#### Statistical Approach

Prior to ANOVAs, frequencies were arcsin transformed to approximate a normal distribution. Arcsin-transformed frequencies of survivorship from hatch to pupation, survivorship from pupation to adult eclosion, and survivorship from hatch to adult eclosion, were subjected to two-way ANOVA with iron concentration, northern (non-biting) vs. southern (biting) populations, and their interaction used as fixed-effect treatments. Populations within treatments were considered random effects; consequently, Mean Square biting \*iron\* population interaction was used as the error effect in F-tests for significance. ANOVAs were run using JMP (Sall, et al., 2005).

Due to low survivorship at high iron concentrations (Appendix I), sex of pupae or emerging adults were increasingly skewed towards zero or undefined when actually equal to zero. Consequently, 2x3 contingency tables were used to evaluate sex ratios of pupae and emerging adults at the zero and the two highest iron concentrations.  $\chi^2$  and associated *P*-values were calculated using the *Chisq test* function in Excel 2010. Correction for continuity was used only if the initial  $\chi^2$  indicated non-independence (*P*<0.05).

#### Results

Frequency of both pupation and adult emergence declined with increasing iron concentration and was lower among northern (non-biting) than southern (biting) populations. Southern populations did not achieve disproportionate pupation or emergence success at higher than lower iron concentrations as in neither case was there a significant interaction effect (Fig. 4A, 4C). Survivorship of pupae did not vary significantly with larval iron concentration, between biting and non-biting populations, or with their interactive effects (Fig. 4B).

Sex ratio of neither pupae nor emerging adults varied with iron concentration experienced by larvae or between non-biting and biting populations (Fig. 5).



Figure 4. Survivorship to pupation (A), during pupation (B), or to adult emergence (C). In each plot, significance of two-way ANOVA (Appendix II) is given by the inset (Fe, iron concentration experienced by larvae; Bite, non-biting vs. biting populations; FxB, interaction between iron concentration and propensity to bite. \*\*\*P<0.001; \*\*P<0.01; ns, P $\ge$ 0.05). Arcsin-transformed values are shown on the vertical axis and Log10 iron concentration on the horizontal axis. The 1.0 is added to iron concentration to permit log-transformation of the zero control. The plots for biting populations are offset by 0.1 so that they can be visually compared with the corresponding plots for non-biting populations. Solid circles represent 2-4 of the populations with frequencies of zero.



Figure 5. Sex ratio expressed as % female in non-biting and biting populations in response to the zero iron control and two highest iron concentrations among pupae (top) and eclosing adults (bottom).

	Pupae		Adults	
	North	South	North	South
$\chi^2$	5.507	0.061	5.358	0.486
Р	0.076	0.971	0.073	0.855

Table 1. Results of *Chisq test* for independence of sex ratio of pupae and emerging adults between obligate non-biting (North) and biting (South) populations (Appendix III).

#### Discussion

Through decreased frequency of *W. smithii* pupation and emerging adults in response to increased concentration of iron salts, my results show that the entire life cycle can be interrupted through the inability to process iron salt. I predicted variation of iron tolerance of larvae and a higher female-biased sex ration in southern populations with biting than in northern populations with obligate non-biting adult females. When exposed to toxic iron concentrations, frequency of pupation and emerging adults was in fact lower in the northern populations than the southern populations. However, sex ratio of larvae surviving to pupae or adults did not differ between northern and southern populations within a single species provides an entrée into determining genetic mechanisms of iron susceptibility in mosquitoes.

#### Wyeomyia smithii Larval Physiology

The peritrophic membrane of *W. smithii* larvae has previously never been studied. While my research does not directly examine this level of detail into the specific anatomical functions, the results do support the assumption that *W. smithii* fit into the broader knowledge of mosquito larval physiology. Previous research of generalized mosquito physiology found that juveniles (larvae) of both sexes maintain a consistently thin peritrophic matrix (Lehane, 1997). Since the sex ratio of pupae and emerging adults, regardless of the adult females' propensity to bite, did not vary in response to iron concentration, the larval peritrophic metrix is likely similar in both sexes of *W. smithii*, as in other larval mosquitoes (Lehane, 1997).

#### Environmentally Friendly Population Control

While larvae do not bite, my results provide an avenue towards a more environmentally friendly means of mosquito control. In addition to blood, mosquitoes also feed on carbohydrates and are attracted to sugar-baited traps. Iron could be added to the sugar bait along with substances that specifically interfere with iron tolerance in mosquitoes. By specifically targeting mosquito physiology, the impact on non-target species could be reduced. Without mosquitoes, there is no bite and therefore no disease transmission. Seeking to control mosquitoes with harsh chemicals not only can affect the ecosystem at large but also can impose risks to humans. Iron sulfate is naturally occurring and taken as a dietary supplement in humans. These qualities make it a promising option for mosquito population control.

#### Future Research

Finding a trend of low larval survivorship across all populations and both sexes at 33.583 mg/L of ferrous iron provides the first physiological limit for iron in *W*. *smithii*. This baseline toxicity level can be used to determine iron tolerance in the adult stage. Future research of adults would enhance the knowledge of iron toxicity to develop iron-laced sugar baits as an environmentally benign control measure. Through my study of the larval stage, the questions I investigated can be framed for adults: (1) Are avid blood-feeding mosquitoes more iron tolerant than reluctant or non-biting mosquitoes? (2) Does sex affect survivorship of adult *W. smithii* in response to increased iron concentrations?

Continued research can achieve the end goal of mosquito population-control to reduce the transmission of heinous diseases in a safe, environmentally responsible way.

### Glossary

**Eclosion**: the process in which pupa emerge from their casing as fully formed adults **Hemoglobin**: a complex oxygen-carrying protein incorporating heme, a complex of rings surrounding an iron molecule, which itself is the portion of hemoglobin actually carrying the oxygen.

**Inter-fertile:** different populations whose individuals are able to mate and produce living offspring

**Peritrophic:** literally, "around the food;" **matrix**: a semi-permeable, net-like structure that lines the gut and inhibits or prevents the ingested food or blood from contacting the actual gut lining itself.

**Pupa:** final state of reformation before adulthood in which larval structures rearrange to make the adult form within a casing

**Pupation:** the transition from the last stage of larval molting to become a pupa **Larva:** first life stage after hatching from egg; individuals undergo four stages of molting called instars

Thermoperiod: fluctuating day and night temperature

Vector: an organism that carries and transmits a pathogen

# Appendices

# Appendix I. Collated data

					Asin				
	Fe++								
#	mg/L	Rpl	Biting	Рор	%P	%A	Psurv	%♀P	%♀A
CA	0.000	1	0	DB	82.0	78.6	78.6	45.6	44.4
CB	0.000	2	0	DB	73.6	69.7	78.0	46.2	46.3
6A	0.003	1	0	DB	81.9	78.5	81.8	39.7	40.2
6B	0.003	2	0	DB	78.5	71.6	75.5	48.6	48.2
5A	0.034	1	0	DB	73.6	71.6	81.5	43.8	43.1
5B	0.034	2	0	DB	75.8	75.8	90.0	38.2	38.2
4A	0.336	1	0	DB	81.9	81.9	90.0	43.2	43.2
4B	0.336	2	0	DB	78.5	78.5	90.0	47.4	47.4
3A	3.358	1	0	DB	51.9	51.9	90.0	38.5	38.5
3B	3.358	2	0	DB	51.9	50.8	79.7	45.9	45.0
2A	33.583	1	0	DB	45.0	42.7	73.6	36.9	36.1
2B	33.583	2	0	DB	28.0	28.0	90.0	31.5	31.5
CA	0.000	1	0	ML	81.9	81.9	90.0	51.5	51.5
CB	0.000	2	0	ML	71.6	69.7	81.4	46.9	46.3
6A	0.003	1	0	ML			•		
6B	0.003	2	0	ML	73.6	73.6	90.0	45.0	45.0
5A	0.034	1	0	ML	90.0	90.0	90.0	39.2	39.2
5B	0.034	2	0	ML	69.7	68.0	81.3	46.3	45.7
4A	0.336	1	0	ML	78.5	71.6	75.5	45.0	45.6
4B	0.336	2	0	ML	78.5	78.5	90.0	40.2	40.2
3A	3.358	1	0	ML	35.7	33.2	69.9	43.3	39.2
3B	3.358	2	0	ML	38.1	38.1	90.0	46.5	46.5
2A	33.583	1	0	ML	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
2B	33.583	2	0	ML	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
CA	0.000	1	0	KC	81.87	81.87	90	45.58	45.58
CB	0.000	2	0	KC	59.34	58.05	80.54	45.77	46.59
6A	0.003	1	0	KC	64.9	63.43	81.02	47.1	47.87
6B	0.003	2	0	KC	75.82	73.57	81.61	38.23	38.72
5A	0.034	1	0	KC	64.9	64.9	90	44.3	44.3
5B	0.034	2	0	KC	71.57	69.73	81.43	39.23	39.76
4A	0.336	1	0	KC	68.03	66.42	81.23	55.21	56.2
4B	0.336	2	0	KC	64.9	63.43	81.02	41.5	42.13
3A	3.358	1	0	KC	31.95	29.33	67.79	57.69	60

3B	3.358	2	0	KC	46.15	45	78.69	47.21	48.45
2A	33.583	1	0	KC	0	0			
2B	33.583	2	0	KC	0	0	•	•	
CA	0.000	1	1	WI	71.57	71.57	90.00	40.53	40.53
CB	0.000	2	1	WI	90.00	82.58	82.58	48.83	48.41
6A	0.003	1	1	WI	90.00	90.00	90.00	50.03	50.03
6B	0.003	2	1	WI	90.00	82.03	82.03	46.10	46.69
5A	0.034	1	1	WI	81.87	78.46	81.79	44.42	43.81
5B	0.034	2	1	WI	90.00	81.87	81.87	39.23	39.71
4A	0.336	1	1	WI	90.00	90.00	90.00	39.92	39.92
4B	0.336	2	1	WI	90.00	90.00	90.00	48.96	48.96
3A	3.358	1	1	WI	59.34	54.33	70.80	42.67	42.39
3B	3.358	2	1	WI	68.03	60.67	70.06	38.96	40.46
2A	33.583	1	1	WI	18.43	18.43	90.00	39.23	39.23
2B	33.583	2	1	WI	11.54	11.54	90.00	90.00	90.00
CA	0.000	1	1	GS	78.46	75.82	81.70	42.61	41.95
CB	0.000	2	1	GS	78.46	78.46	90.00	41.41	41.41
6A	0.003	1	1	GS	78.46	78.46	90.00	42.61	42.61
6B	0.003	2	1	GS	73.57	73.57	90.00	46.25	46.25
5A	0.034	1	1	GS	66.42	66.42	90.00	49.11	49.11
5B	0.034	2	1	GS	73.57	69.73	77.96	45.00	43.70
4A	0.336	1	1	GS	90.00	90.00	90.00	36.87	36.87
4B	0.336	2	1	GS	75.82	71.57	78.10	50.52	50.77
3A	3.358	1	1	GS	69.73	64.90	74.86	46.30	47.10
3B	3.358	2	1	GS	64.90	51.94	60.41	45.70	49.64
2A	33.583	1	1	GS	14.18	14.18	90.00	35.26	35.26
2B	33.583	2	1	GS	18.43	18.43	90.00	26.57	26.57
CA	0.000	1	1	LI	90.00	90.00	90.00	47.61	47.61
CB	0.000	2	1	LI	81.87	81.87	90.00	47.93	47.93
6A	0.003	1	1	LI	75.82	73.57	81.61	38.23	38.72
6B	0.003	2	1	LI	73.57	71.57	81.52	43.75	43.09
5A	0.034	1	1	LI	90.00	82.25	82.25	40.29	40.74
5B	0.034	2	1	LI	81.87	78.46	81.79	46.76	46.19
4A	0.336	1	1	LI	90.00	82.18	82.18	41.81	42.29
4B	0.336	2	1	LI	90.00	90.00	90.00	48.94	48.94
3A	3.358	1	1	LI	75.82	73.57	81.61	46.83	47.49
3B	3.358	2	1	LI	75.82	73.57	81.61	49.28	48.75
2A	33.583	1	1	LI	16.43	16.43	90.00	60.00	60.00
2B	33.583	2	1	LI	0.00	0.00	•	•	•

# Appedix II. Survivorship

Asin Sqrt % <b>Pupation</b>	DF	Sum of Squares	Mean Squares	F	df	Р
Fe	5	42546.52	8509.30	66.359	5,10	2.42335E-07
Biting	1	1662.72	1662.72	12.966	1,10	0.005
Biting*Fe	5	1186.52	237.30	1.851	5,10	0.191
Fe*PopNum	10	745.08	74.51			
Biting*PopNum	2	598.09	299.05			
Biting*Fe*PopNum	10	1282.32	128.23			
Replicates	37	1821.76	52.05			
Total	70	50746.45				

Asin Sqrt % <b>Pupal</b> Survivorship	DF	Sum of Squares	Mean Squares	F	df	Р
Fe	5	1537.30	307.46	0.940	5,10	0.496
Biting	1	613.17	613.17	1.874	1,10	0.201
Biting*Fe	5	1560.73	312.15	0.954	5,10	0.488
Fe*PopNum	10	3199.22	319.92			
Biting*PopNum	2	396.37	198.19			
Biting*Fe*PopNum	10	3271.81	327.18			
Replicates	34	6041.79	177.70			
Total	67	16620.39				

Asin Sqrt % Adult Emergence	DF	Sum of Squares	Mean Squares	F	df	Р
Fe	5	40586.35	8117.27	68.26	5,10	2.11447E-07
Biting	1	1256.14	1256.14	10.56	1,10	0.009
Biting*Fe	5	845.43	169.09	1.42	5,10	0.297
Fe*PopNum	10	884.30	88.43			
Biting*PopNum	2	614.11	307.06			
Biting*Fe*PopNum	10	1189.12	118.91			
Error	35	1878.36	53.67			
Total	70	47961.68				

# Appendix III. Sex ratio

Pupae						
ΣNBf	ΣNBm	ΣBf	ΣBm	Pupal	NBf	NBm
81	68	71	77	0	148	129
67	61	82	75	3.4	70	68
42	48	77	81	34	12	24
68	73	73	71			
62	75	71	75	Pupal	Bf	Bm
59	77	69	76	0	153	152
76	64	63	92	3.4	130	129
64	73	90	66	34	9	10
30	32	65	63			
40	36	65	66	Adult	NBf	NBm
9	16	6	6	0	144	127
3	8	3	4	3.4	66	66
				34	11	23
Adults						
ΣNBf	ΣNBm	ΣBf	ΣBm	Adult	Bf	Bm
79	68	70	77	0	151	152
65	59	81	75	3.4	122	113
42	46	77	80	34	9	10
66	71	72	70			
61	75	70	74	NB, non-bi	ting; B, bitin	ng
58	76	66	75	f, females;	m, males	
75	61	63	91			
64	72	89	65			
27	31	62	58			
39	35	60	55			
8	15	6	6			
3	8	3	4			

### References

- Armbruster, P. A. 2018. Molecular pathways to nonbiting mosquitoes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 115:836–838.
- Bradshaw, W. E., J. Burkhart, J. K. Colbourne, R. Borowczak, J. Lopez, D. L.
  Denlinger, J. A. Reynolds, M. E. Pfrender, and C. M. Holzapfel. 2018.
  Evolutionary transition from blood feeding to obligate nonbiting in a mosquito.
  Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 115:1009–1014.
- Billingsley, P. F., and W. Rudin. 1992. The role of the mosquito peritrophic membrane in bloodmeal digestion and infectivity of *Plasmodium* species. The Journal of Parasitology 78:430–440.
- Edwards, M. J., and M. Jacobs-Lorena. 2000. Permeability and disruption of the peritrophic matrix and caecal membrane from *Aedes aegypti* and *Anopheles gambiae* mosquito larvae. Journal of Insect Physiology 46:1313–1320.
- Graça-Souza, A. V., C. Maya-Monteiro, G. O. Paiva-Silva, G. R. C. Braz, M. C. Paes, M. H. F. Sorgine, M. F. Oliveira, and P. L. Oliveira. 2006. Adaptations against heme toxicity in blood-feeding arthropods. Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 36:322–335.
- Lehane, M. J. 1997. Peritrophic matrix structure and function. Annual Review of Entomology 42:525–550.
- Mertz, C., J. M. Catchen, V. Hanson-Smith, K. J. Emerson, W. E. Bradshaw, and C. M. Holzapfel. 2013. Replicate phylogenies and post-glacial range expansion of the pitcher-plant mosquito, *Wyeomyia smithii*, in North America. PLOS ONE 8:e72262.
- Nikbakhtzadeh, M. R., G. K. Buss, and W. S. Leal. 2016. Toxic effect of blood feeding in male mosquitoes. Frontiers in Physiology 7:1-7.
- Pascoa, V., P. L. Oliveira, M. Dansa-Petretski, J. R. Silva, P. H. Alvarenga, M. Jacobs-Lorena, and F. J. A. Lemos. 2002. *Aedes aegypti* peritrophic matrix and its interaction with heme during blood digestion. Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 32:517–523.
- Sall, J., Creighton, L., and A. Lehman. 2005. JMP Start Statistics. Brooks/Cole— Thomson Learning, Belmont, CA.
- Shao, L., M. Devenport, and M. Jacobs-Lorena. 2001. The peritrophic matrix of hematophagous insects. Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology 47:119–125.

- Whiten, S. R., H. Eggleston, and Z. N. Adelman. 2018. Ironing out the details: exploring the role of iron and heme in blood-sucking arthropods. Frontiers in Physiology 8:1134-1153.
- Zhou, G., P. Kohlhepp, D. Geiser, M. del C. Frasquillo, L. Vazquez-Moreno, and J. J. Winzerling. 2007. Fate of blood meal iron in mosquitos. Journal of insect physiology 53:1169–1178.